
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Thursday, 
11 November 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed 
to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Outdoor and Town Centre Events Programme (Pages 9 - 16)

6. Summer Fun Programme 2021 (Pages 17 - 22)

7. Community Engagement Events & Activities 2021 (Pages 23 - 28)

8. Christmas Programme 2021 (Pages 29 - 34)

9. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2021-22 (Pages 35 - 46)



10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

11.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any 
items included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the 
public are present during those items, there would be disclosure 
to them of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

      None.

Members

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Gurjit Kaur Bains
Harold Craske
Aaron Elliott
Emma Morley
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Tuesday, 14 September 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Gurjit Kaur Bains
John Caller
Harold Craske
Aaron Elliott
Sarah Gow
Emma Morley
Peter Scollard

Simon Hookway Assistant Director (Communities)
Anita Tysoe Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural 

Services)
Mandy Hare Cultural Manager
Kirsty Gaunt Community Involvement Officer
Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 

7. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Christina Rolles and Cllr Tony Rana.  Cllr 
Sarah Gow and Cllr John Caller attended as their respective substitutes.   

8. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 3 June 2021 were signed by the Chair.

9. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox declared an other interest in agenda Item 9. Corporate Performance 
Report: Q1 2021-22 as he is a Council appointee on Gravesham Community Leisure Limited 
(GCLL) and The Gr@nd CIC.    

Cllr Peter Scollard declared an other interest in agenda Item 9. Corporate Performance 
Report: Q1 2021-22 as he is a Council appointee on Gravesham Community Leisure Limited 
(GCLL).  Cllr Peter Scollard declared an other interest in agenda Item 8. Corporate Register 
of Partnership – July 2021 and as he is a Council appointee on North West Kent Volunteer 
Centre

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 14.09.2021

2

Cllr John Caller declared an interest as he is a Council appointee on Meopham Community 
Sport and Leisure Association Management Committee.

10. Arts & Culture Strategy Update 

The Cultural Manager provided Members of the Committee with a report of the cultural 
activity that has taken place since the ratification of A Creative Gravesham - An Arts and 
Culture Strategy in September 2020. 

A Creative Gravesham – An Arts and Culture Strategy was ratified in September 2020 
including the delivery plan for the first year of the strategy. The strategy identified 5 priorities

 Delivering a cultural and creative community 
 Supporting and developing artists and creatives 
 Establishing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events programme 
 Enhancing and promoting our assets and heritage 
 Developing our children and young people creatively

The Cultural Manager highlighted the following: 

 Delivering a cultural and creative community - the cultural update and action plan 
highlight the activity GBC support and the funding that has been applied for. Several 
new pieces of work have been developed in the borough supported by GBC through 
the Make It Grants and larger co–commissions for England’s Creative Coast and 
Estuary 21.  The Make It Grants allocated 5 grants creating new work at the end of 
lockdown and 5 artist’s grants as part of the Bloomin’ Lovely Festival in summer 
2021. A full programme is being developed for St George’s Arts Centre and St 
Andrew’s Arts Centre with drop in areas for artists. 

 Supporting and Developing Artists and Creatives – following ongoing meetings 
with Gravesham Arts salon networking group a successful bid enabled a hybrid 
Estuary Fringe Festival to take place, which included some online platforms and live 
exhibits. 

 Enhancing and promoting our assets and heritage - the Milton Chantry 700 has a 
new exhibition in the Barrack Room showcasing  one of the Bloomin’ Lovely grant 
installations.  Strategic plans are being developed with partners to align with GBC 
priorities and an artist network heritage. Kickstart scheme – a digital platform is being 
developed for the Re:Generation 2031.   Events are being planned around the 
Jubilee year and requesting collections from young artists. 

Following questions from the Committee; the Cultural Manager highlighted the following:

 The Chair congratulated and thanked the team for all their hard work on the delivery 
of this plan, especially during COVID, and it demonstrates the amount of work that 
has been achieved. 

 The Cultural Manager explained that a soft launch for the St George’s Arts Centre is 
proposed for November and will be fully opened by December.  

 The Cultural Manage explained that the delivery of arts has been focussed during the 
pandemic, the majority of fringe festival events were online, Woodville Theatre have 
been streaming performances into people’s own homes.  Telephone Theatre is a 
process where you buy a ticket and get a phone call from one person then another 
person and the whole play is performed that way.  

Page 4



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 14.09.2021

3

Members noted the information contained in the report that the paper is recognised as a 
reflection of the activity that has taken place and the plans and actions are approved for 
22/23 

11. Community Engagement Strategy Action Plan 

The Community Involvement Officer updated Members of the Committee progress against 
the Community Engagement Strategy. 

In February 2021, the Community Engagement Strategy was adopted. The strategy set out 4 
main objectives: 

 Being a Listening Council 
 Empowering Residents and Communities 
 Supporting Community Organisations 
 Building Cohesive Communities

The Community Involvement Officer highlighted the following:

 Work has taken place with the Communications Team regarding the publication of a 
programme of public consultation.  

 A protocol is being developed for how the council uses and actions the results of 
community feedback.  

 Improved promotion of how to contact the council and your local councillors is being 
considered. 

 Engagement with the Parish Councils is an integral part of the council’s engagement 
strategy.  

 Implementation and development of the Street Champions, of which there are 186 
volunteers. This has proved very popular over the lockdown. 

 A number of litter pick events have taken place involving local Councillors.  
 The Council is developing processes for the public to engage with the council 

building during the pandemic but also recognising the digital divide.   
 The Council is investigating other ways of managing face to face interactions. 
 Local services have pulled together to create good partnership working including 

VCS networking events. 
 Development is underway of an online community organisation and representative 

database.

Following questions from the Committee; the following areas were raised:

 It was agreed that the Community Engagement Strategy Action Plan has enabled 
people to focus their work on built on it. 

 The chair and committee acknowledged the team is second to none, very 
professional and events always run smoothly.  The Service Manager (Town Centre 
and Cultural Services) acknowledged that local residents and partners do recognise 
the work that Gravesham has done during the pandemic and how delivery has 
changed following the pandemic.  

 The chair mentioned that it is a collaborative effort supported by community 
engagement and working with a number of organisations. 

Page 5



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 14.09.2021

4

 The chair informed the committee that feedback is so important, it is a two-way 
conversation and we have to act on the responses.   Regarding the Digital divide; we 
have to recognise that not everything can be done online.   

 The chair commended the Street Champions, they are active volunteers and are the 
envy of other areas.   The LGBT pride event was the first in Gravesham and was 
very well received.   

 It was discussed about working with the Afghan and Kurdish community and the 
Community Involvement Officer will work with them and the local councillor.  It was 
requested to add refugee immigration into the action plan and the Chair has 
confirmed that this will be included. 

 A thank you for the 186 Street Champions had been planned for March 2020 but due 
to COVID that could not take place. Gravesham would still like to host an event to 
say thank you. 
 

The Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee noted the report and updated action plan.

12. Equalities Policies and Action Plan Update 

The Community Involvement Officer updated Members of the Committee with the progress 
of the Equalities Policy, Objectives and Action Plan. 

In February 2021, the council’s Equalities Policy, Objectives and Action Plan was adopted. 
The policy sets out two main objectives and four themes. The objectives are: 

 Understanding our communities and workforce and how people could be 
disadvantaged or discriminated against because of a protected characteristic.

 Building a cohesive and inclusive borough as a service provider, employer and 
community leader.

The actions are themed as follows: 

 Understanding and working with our communities 
 Leadership and organisational commitment 
 Responsive services and customer care 
 Diverse and engaged council

Following questions from the Committee; the Community Involvement Officer and the 
Service Manager (Town Centre and Cultural Services highlighted the following:

 The Service Manager (Town Centre and Cultural Services) informed the committee 
that if members of the public are experiencing issues with contacting the council, 
officers can meet in person in Reception by booking an appointment with Jackie 
Denton Customer Services Manager to access the services they require. 

 The Council is looking at its workforce training, ongoing HR services including 
developing a wellbeing policy and this will be ongoing.   The Community Involvement 
Officer agreed to circulate a full list of workforce equalities monitoring categories to 
the Committee. 

The Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee noted the report. 

Page 6



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 14.09.2021

5

13. Extract from the Register of Partnerships and Shared Service 

The Assistant Director (Communities) updated Members of the Committee on the council’s 
involvement in partnerships that are within the remit of the committee. 

There are currently 9 partnerships that work directly with the committee:

 Council for Voluntary Service North West Kent
 CCTV Services Partnership
 GO TRADE
 Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP)
 Gravesham Gateway
 G-Safe Town Centre Crime Reduction (Radionet) Scheme
 North West Kent Volunteer Service
 Oasis Domestic Abuse Service
 Thames Defence Heritage

Following questions from the Committee; the Assistant Director (Communities) highlighted 
the following:

 The Assistant Director (Communities) will feedback the request that a review of the 
level of engagement by Members in partnerships take place. 

 The addition of Housing’s CCTV to the partnership arrangements alongside public 
CCTV is a positive move.  

 Oasis is now the new name for Choices.  The committee discussed the climate 
change section and that there was no obvious relationship between the services 
being delivered and climate change. The Service Manager (Town Centre and 
Cultural Services) explained that the section relates to encouraging partnerships to 
be mindful of the climate change agenda within their own work.  It was agreed this 
section of the register would be reviewed to ensure it was reflective and appropriate 
of the work of the partnership. 

 The Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee noted the report. 

14. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22 

The Committee were provided with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter One 2021-22 
(April to June 2021).

The Assistant Director (Communities) guided Members through the report and gave a brief 
overview of each Policy Commitment.

Following questions from the Committee; the Assistant Director (Communities) highlighted 
the following: 

 With regards P1 2 – we are beginning to see a different pattern of crime and ASB 
offences coming out of lockdown. 

 In regards to P1 13 environmental standards – the action figures have increased 
which is a mixture of protection notices and warnings. An increase of fly tipping but 

Page 7



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 14.09.2021

6

prosecutions have been made this is due to the excellent work of the Environmental 
Enforcement team but can be a lengthy process through to prosecution.  It was 
requested that Gravesham’s social media could reiterate how easy the process is of 
reporting fly tipping as residents do not always know how to report it.  The website 
empowers people to get a response but many of the comments about how we tackle 
fly tipping are positive. 

 The Chair explained about the Waste Carrier Licenses and putting a sample on the 
website so residents could see what an official one looks like. 

 With regards P1 37 these figures do not reflect full opening of the leisure centres on 
24 July.  The Assistant Director (Communities) explained that membership uptake is 
returning but there is some hesitancy and Gravesham is yet to see if that will 
increase with more residents using the pay as you use scheme.  A further update will 
be given in the next quarter. 

 In regards to PI 40 healthy living – the Grand fully opened this week. 
 PI 41 resilient community – more smaller events have taken place including litter 

picks, residents are taking more pride in their street which is very encouraging. 
 PI 42 – The Woodville has been a vaccine centre and over 100,000 vaccines have 

been administered.  107 events have taken place this quarter including more outside 
events.  Ticket prices were discussed especially regarding the booking fee, this is 
very standard across the board and cover the booking office costs and marketing. It 
was agreed this Performance Indicator would be reviewed to ensure it was reflective 
of the wide cultural offer. 

Members noted the information contained within the report. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.55 pm

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 11 November 2021

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Outdoor and Town Centre Events Programme

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide an overview of the council's major outdoor and Town Centre events programme 
during 2021.

Recommendations:
1. That the Committee notes the range of larger scale events organised by the council 

and in partnership with others and makes known its priorities for consideration in 
future events programming.

1. Introduction

1.1 The council organises a large number and variety of events directly or, in some 
instances, in partnership with local groups and organisations. The majority of 
these are managed or facilitated by staff within the Communities Directorate.

1.2 The council’s events programme is aligned with the strategic objectives of the 
Corporate Plan relating to Objective #2 Place – A vibrant economy and connected 
community. 

1.3 This report summarises the main events that have taken place primarily since 
April 2021, as well as forthcoming events in the coming months, giving an 
indication of the scale of commitment that the council makes to this programme as 
well as the complexities and restrictions placed on the programme due to Covid-
19 over the last year and beyond.

2. Outdoor Events Programme 2021

Estuary Festival 2021

2.1 The council worked with Cement Fields and Metal Culture to deliver the 
Gravesham Element of Estuary 21 – a festival originally planned for 2020 to bring 
international artists to the Estuary locations. 

2.2 The council co-commissioned Golden Years by Sadie Hennessy which was 
installed in St George’s Shopping Centre. The artist invited local residents to 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2

exhibit their collections in empty shops in the centre and in addition a golden ice 
cream van broadcast every weekend playlists developed from community 
engagement.

2.3 Gravesham also hosted Marcus Coates’ Our Time – an installation in the Clock 
Tower which played the bird song of different local endangered species on the 
hour.

2.4 St Andrew’s Arts Centre was the space for Unctuous Between Her Fingers a 
moving image work that explored the efficacy of seaweed as a curative through 
history.

2.5 The council supported Gravesham Estuary Fringe Festival in which over 30 
events both live and online took place between 4th and 12th June.

Woodville in Fort Gardens, May – August 

2.6     The Woodville hosted 4 comedy nights throughout the summer in Fort Gardens 
which sold out as well as an evening of West End performers and a family 
comedy event in July.

Outdoor Theatre, Sunday 18 July

2.7    The council has worked with the Changeling Theatre Company to present outdoor 
theatre within the borough since 2007. Shakespeare’s A Midsummer Night’s 
Dream was held at Nurstead Court, Meopham. To fit in with guidance at the time, 
the events capacity was reduced to 120 and tickets sold out.

Fun in the Fort Gardens – 4-5 September

2.8     This was a new event designed to be family orientated but low key so as not to 
attract very large numbers. It ran alongside of the annual Gravesend Town 
Regatta. Over the two days, various music acts were programmed along with 
interactive entertainment such as the circus skills workshop, crazy golf, various 
arts and craft making stalls and heritage characters as part of Milton Chantry 700. 
In the region of 500 visitors per day.

Summer Events at the Promenade

2.9  A number of organisations organise events on council land with a varying 
degrees of assistance from the council:

2.9.1 The Gravesend Town Regatta took place on Saturday 4 and Sunday 5 
September on the River, with organised skiff rowing races on the Thames 
and on-shore events along the Promenade, including a fun-fair, organised 
by the Gravesend Regatta Committee. 

2.9.2 The Hope & Glory event in Fort Gardens was organised by Victory Events 
and took place on 25 and 26 September 2021.  Attractions included a 
mixture of stalls, related musical acts, memorabilia and re-enactments. 

Fireworks Festival, Friday 5 November

2.10 The fireworks event returns to the Promenade following last year’s cancellation 
due to Covid-19.  As in previous years, the fireworks are to be co-ordinated to 
a musical theme and will be launched from a barge on the River. Smith’s 

Page 10



3

Funfairs provide a funfair based primarily on the Ordnance Road site. In 
previous years this event has attracted approximately 10,000 people. 

2.11 Funding from Swale Heating supports this year’s fireworks event and it is this 
type of social value funding that has the potential to help fund the events 
programme in the future. 

Remembrance Services, Thursday 11 November and Sunday 14 November 

2.12 The council, including the officers of the Leisure Team and Communities 
Directorate, provide support to a number of memorial services held during this 
time, primarily at Windmill Hill, Northfleet and Community Square. These 
events are managed in conjunction with a range of organisations, including the 
main event partners, the Royal British Legion. As in previous years, it is 
anticipated that just under 1000 people will attend the Sunday service at 
Windmill Hill Memorial Gardens, with 300 people at the memorial at The Hill, 
Northfleet; and 250 people at Community Square on Thursday 11 November.  
The lead of representatives of the services and other organisations is critical to 
these events taking place.

Other future events

2.13 The annual General Gordon Memorial Service is to be held in Gordon 
Gardens by the Gordon Statue at 11am on Friday 21 January 2021.

3. The Queen’s Platinum Jubilee

3.1 The Queen’s Platinum Jubilee is being celebrated with an extended bank 
holiday from Thursday 2nd to Sunday 5th June 2022.  A series of public 
events and community events are being planned nationally as opportunities for 
communities and people throughout the United Kingdom to come together to 
celebrate the historic milestone.  These include:

Thursday 2 June

3.2 The Queen’s Birthday Parade (Trooping the Colour) 

3.3 Platinum Jubilee Beacons will be lit throughout the United Kingdom.

Friday 3 June

3.4 A Service of Thanksgiving for The Queen’s reign will be held at St Paul’s 
Cathedral. 

Saturday 4th June

3.5 Her Majesty The Queen will attend the Derby at Epsom Downs

3.6 Platinum Party at Buckingham Palace to celebrate The Queen’s seven decade 
reign.

Sunday 5th June

3.7 The Big Jubilee Lunch - encouraging communities to celebrate their 
connections and get to know each other a little bit better through a street party 
or picnic, tea and cake or a garden barbeque. 

Page 11



4

3.8 The Platinum Jubilee Pageant - featuring over 5,000 people from across the 
United Kingdom and the Commonwealth will take place against the backdrop 
of Buckingham Palace.

3.9 The Council has confirmed participation in the Platinum Jubilee Beacon 
lighting event on 2 June and will encourage services of thanksgiving in local 
churches.

3.10 Communities will be encouraged to host their own Big Jubilee Lunches within 
their streets and gardens on Sunday 5 June.

3.11 The Council is also working on a scheme around the Queen’s Green Canopy 
and encouraging tree planting in the Borough.

4. Town Centre Events

4.1 On 19 December 2020, the country was taken back into Lockdown.  We were 
fortunately towards the end of the 2020 Christmas promotional events and 
markets in the Town Centre, but from thereon in, all gatherings and public 
events were either cancelled or postponed. This included the January “Winter 
Lights” festival; Valentines promotions and Pancake Day, all in early spring 
2021.

4.2 Covid 19 restrictions were slowly lifted from 8 March when schools re-opened; 
the “Rule of Six” was re-imposed from 29 March and shops & businesses re-
opened on 12 April 2021. This also ruled out any events for Easter 2021 and 
due to restrictions and uncertainty re- people gathering in vast numbers, we 
also had to cancel the annual St George’s Day parade.

4.3 Footfall in the town has slowly recovered week on week, month on month, but 
even now (October 2021) figures are still 25% down on 2019 numbers.

Street Promotions

4.4 From mid-August 2021, the council re-opened the diary for commercial street 
promotions in town and we have already had approaches and campaigns with 
two local gyms, and a national utility company. These bookings are now 
coming back in so we should start to see some additional income.

Dressing the Town

4.5 Regardless of the lack of organised events within the town centre, we have 
managed to “Dress the Town” throughout the Summer with the “Bloomin’ 
Lovely” floral campaign which ran from end of May to October 2021. 

4.6 With businesses having struggled throughout the pandemic- fewer were able 
to financially sponsor floral troughs/baskets this season, which is 
understandable, but through the council part funding some items and donating 
others, we managed to get a floral impact in the town centre gated area this 
summer – and added to the scheme with six of Town Centre Planters and 
maintaining one of the former boats at Stone Street.  

4.7 We also brought in artificial floral arches on some shops & businesses that 
were unable to accommodate hanging baskets. We also commissioned local 
art groups to produce new installations including at the Heritage Arch, and 
street art on old shop hoardings to brighten the town scene.

Page 12



5

Welcome Back Funding 

4.8 We also now have a significant amount of funding from the Government’s 
Welcome Back Funding to introduce new entertainment, street furniture and 
local training for small businesses to bounce back and are planning to spend 
by the end of March 2022.

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 13



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Event Management Plans are put in place for all major events, including risk 
assessments, licencing involvement and Police/Safety Advisory Group 
support/guidance where required.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The events programme is funded from the council's leisure events budget. A 
number of events receive partnership funding via the Kent Equality Cohesion 
Council through Arts Council England grant funding. Income is also received 
through concession food stalls, funfairs and circuses. 
This Riverside Fringe Festival received £15,000 in funding support from Arts 
Council England.
Social value funding from Swale Heating covered the costs of the fireworks display.
The main cost centre is G205 – Major Outdoor Events.

Risk Assessment All major events have Event Management Plans and these are submitted to the 
Safety Advisory Group for comment.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
     

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
     

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Objective #2 Place – A vibrant economy and connected community.

Crime and Disorder Event Management Plans in place for all major events, including risk assessments, 
licencing involvement and Police/Safety Advisory Group support/guidance where 
required.

Page 14

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

Digital and website 
implications

Use of social media and website are key to the promotion of all council events for 
pre-promotion and live updates.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

All major events are risk assessed, all 1-2-1 interacting events require staff to be 
DBS checked, photo consent forms are carried out where necessary, all large scale 
events will have a lost children point and nominated member of staff.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 11 November 2021

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Summer Fun 2021

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report the outcome of the 2021 Summer Fun programme

Recommendations:
1. That the Committee notes the levels of participation and range of activity in this year’s 

Summer Fun programme and makes its views known in respect of future programming.

1. Overview

1.1 The Summer Fun programme contributes to the achievement of one of the 
Council’s priorities for sport, leisure & active recreation; that of encouraging 
regular active and healthier lifestyles.  The programme focuses on supporting 
inactive young people, aged between 4 and 12, to become more active.

1.2 This is consistent with Sport England’s ‘Uniting the Movement’ Strategy (2021-
2031) in ensuring that ‘Every child and young person has the right to be active, to 
benefit from being active in a safe, positive and trusted environment, and to have 
an equal chance to achieve their potential’; and, also with the 2017-2021 strategic 
framework for sport and physical activity in Kent and Medway - ‘More People, 
More Active, More Often.’

1.3 The Coronavirus pandemic meant that the majority of the planned activities for the 
2020 Summer Programme were cancelled. In order to work within government 
Covid-19 guidelines and to prevent activities being cancelled for a second year in 
succession, a smaller scale summer programme was delivered between July and 
September 2021. The advertising for this year’s activities was done solely online 
and the usual 24 page Summer Fun Guide was not produced.

1.4 Activities were split between those delivered by the Council’s Leisure Team and 
those delivered with partner organisations, including The Woodville and KCC 
Libraries, with all events (except for fishing) provided free of charge. A list of the 
events and attendance figures is included in Table 1, and where available, this 
gives a split between children and adult participants.

Page 17 Agenda Item 6



2

2. Activities

2.1 Fun in the Fort Gardens - Delivered in the Fort Gardens every Wednesday 
between 28 July and 25 August, activities included: storytelling delivered by The 
Woodville Education and Outreach Team alongside KCC Libraries; arts and crafts 
sessions; heritage themed events in the Milton Chantry, physical activity games 
(relay races, ‘cups and domes’ games); magic show; interactive history talk with 
the Monk of Milton Chantry and nature trail and pond dipping sessions provided 
by the North West Kent Countryside Partnership.

2.2 Magic and Movement - The events were delivered on Tuesdays and Fridays 
across the holidays and took place at a number of different open spaces across 
the borough (sites listed in the table below). Activities included football coaching; 
dodgeball; racing; cone games; magic and parachute games from Micky the 
Magician; bouncy castle and story-telling with The Woodville Education and 
Outreach Team alongside KCC Libraries.

2.3 Introduction to Fishing - The sessions took place at Shorne Woods Country Park 
on 5 and 12 August. Participants booked in advance via Eventbrite and were 
charged a small fee to take part. Qualified angling coaches showed young people 
aged 5 to 16 years how to fish safely. 

2.4 Family Fitness with Northfleet Big Local - Activities took place on Tuesdays 
throughout the summer and were aged at young people aged 5 upwards, 
encouraging participation of adults/carers to join in. The sessions aimed to 
promote the open spaces around the Northfleet area and entice young people 
outdoors and away from their screens. Families participated in age appropriate 
circuit training, alongside mindfulness meditation provided by Primal Roots CIC.

2.5 Tai-Chi Tuesdays - Aimed at those aged 14+ there were weekly Tai-Chi sessions 
held in the Fort Gardens every Tuesday morning across the summer.

3. Results/Conclusions of Summer Fun programme

3.1 The ambition of the Leisure Team was to deliver a smaller scale, more localised 
summer activity programme to provide the opportunity for young people across 
the borough to take part in some form of activity during the holidays.  This was 
achieved by providing fewer activities at each site, but increasing the number of 
sites across the borough where Leisure Team lead activities took place, 
encouraging people to attend an event at their local park rather than travel by car. 
A booking system (provided by The Woodville), encouraged people to book onto 
an event of their choice and capped the amount of attendees at each site to keep 
numbers manageable.

3.2 Participation numbers were around 10% of usual attendance figures expected 
during a normal summer programme year. Council led activities were promoted 
via social media this year and no hard copy of the Summer Fun guide was 
produced, this resulted in no advertising of activities by external organisations, so 
the overall amount of events on offer were less. Lower attendance could also be 
attributed to residual nervousness from some people around Covid-19, despite 
procedures put in place to keep people safe. 

3.3 Attendance figures at sites which usually generate high numbers – in particular 
Woodlands and Camer Park – saw lower than expected turnouts. The lower 
numbers at Woodlands were likely due to inclement weather, but across the 

Page 18



3

summer only the events at Woodlands and Wombwell Park were affected by rain 
and wind.

3.4 In contrast, at Rosherville Open Space, a site the council have not delivered a 
summer activity at in recent years, and St Gregory’s Recreation Ground, where 
numbers have historically been low; attendance was higher than expected. This 
may be attributed to people attending events local to them rather than travelling to 
other sites.

3.5 Despite the greater overall cost and extensive staff hours involved and lower 
attendance numbers, delivering a smaller scheme for Summer 2021 succeeded 
as intended in this particular year. The success of hosting events at new sites, 
such as Rosherville could be replicated moving forward, but it is hoped that it will 
be possible to deliver a full Summer Fun programme in 2022. 

3.6 The benefits of a returning to the normal programme will enable the council to:    

3.6.1 raise awareness of the benefits of a more active lifestyle, with a greater 
number of residents across the borough

3.6.2 improve access to a wide range of “activities” for all sections of the 
community with a high proportion offered free of charge,

3.6.3 enable local sports clubs/organisations, who promote activities in the 
Summer Fun Guide, to increase members and provide exit routes to 
participants who show an interest in a particular activity 

3.6.4 continue to promote local parks and open spaces for families to use and 
access

Table 1 – Participation in Activities advertised as part of the Summer Fun Programme 

1 Notes
All activities listed in the table were organised or supported financially by GBC. 

# Total attendance figures include all numbers generated from advertising via GBC social media channels. 

Activity Child
Attendance

Adult
Attendance

Total
Attendance

Tai-Chi (Fort Gardens) 39
Fun in the Fort Gardens (28/07/21) 54
Magic & Movement (Woodlands Park) 44
Magic & Movement (Kings Farm) 13
Fun in the Fort Gardens (04/08/21) 42
Magic & Movement (St Gregory’s Rec) 47
Fun in the Fort Gardens (11/08/21) 31
Magic & Movement (Rosherville Open Space) 55
Magic & Movement (Wombwell Park) 9
Fun in the Fort Gardens (18/08/21) 40
Magic & Movement (Vigo Rec) 21
Magic & Movement (Camer Park) 48
Fun in the Fort Gardens (25/08/21) 29
Magic & Movement (Culverstone Rec) 21
Northfleet Big Local Family Fitness 76 48 124
Introduction to Fishing 64

Total attendances1# 681       

Page 19



4

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 20



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Event Management Plans are put in place for Summer Fun events and 
Police/Safety Advisory Group support/guidance where required.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The Summer Fun Programme is funded from the council's G202 Sports 
Development budget.

Risk Assessment Risk assessments are in place for all Summer Fun events. Additional Covid-19 
safety procedures were incorporated. At least one member of staff at each event is 
fully first aid trained.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
     

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
     

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Objective #2 Place – A vibrant economy and connected community.

Crime and Disorder Event Management Plans in place for all major events, including risk assessments, 
licencing involvement and Police/Safety Advisory Group support/guidance where 
required.

Digital and website 
implications

Use of social media and website are key to the promotion of all council events for 
pre-promotion and live updates.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

All major events are risk assessed, all 1-2-1 interacting events require staff to be 
DBS checked, photo consent forms are carried out where necessary, all large scale 
events will have a lost children point and nominated member of staff.

Page 21

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 11 November 2021

Reporting officer: Service Manager (Town Centre and Cultural Services)

Subject: Community Engagement Events & Activities 2021

Purpose and summary of report: 
To give an overview of community engagement events & activities in 2021

Recommendations:
1. That the Committee notes the range of events and activity undertaken to engage and 

develop a more cohesive community and makes known its priorities for consideration 
in future planning.

1. Introduction

1.1 Each year a number of community events and activities are delivered by the 
council’s Community Involvement team.  These aim to promote cohesion, 
equality, inclusiveness, celebration and improvement of our environment.

1.2 The council’s community engagement events activity is aligned with the strategic 
objectives of the Corporate Plan relating to Objective #2 Place – A vibrant 
economy and connected community, and specifically commitments to improve 
resident well-being, develop a cohesive and resilient community, enhance the 
borough’s cultural offer and promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage.

1.3 The council has a duty to demonstrate an active promotion of the equalities 
agenda and the council’s community involvement activity is a core element in that 
work.

2. 2021 Events & Activities 

Holocaust Memorial Day, Wednesday 27 January 2021

2.1 With the entire UK subject to a strict national lockdown in January 2021 the 
Council recognised Holocaust Memorial Day with the caretakers raising the 
Holocaust Memorial Day Trust flag on Community Square and sharing posts on 
social media.

Page 23 Agenda Item 7



2

LGBTQI History Month

2.2 The Pride Flag was raised on Community Square on 1 February and for the entire 
month.

Chinese New Year, Friday 12 February

2.3 With the strict lockdown still in place Chinese New Year was celebrated on social 
media with a compilation of images from past celebrations and a message to the 
community from the Mayor of Gravesham.  

Commonwealth Day, Monday 9 March

2.4 With the national lockdown in place the Mayor of Gravesham raised the 
Commonwealth Flag alone on Community Square with images and a message 
shared on social media. 

National Day of reflection - One year anniversary of the first lockdown

2.5 To mark the one year anniversary of the first lockdown the Clock Tower was lit up 
in yellow and 300 tea lights placed around the base to mark each life lost in 
Gravesham to the virus.

Litter Picking

2.6 The pandemic has seen a large increase in the number of individual volunteer 
litter pickers.  With changes around gatherings outdoors a number of group litter 
picks have been organised with a total of 16 group litter picks and the Great 
British Spring Clean take place between 28 May and 13 June

International Roma Day 8 April 2021

2.7 The Roma Flag was flown on Community Square with the Mayor and Romani 
Slovak Czech Community CIC and shared on social media.

Vaisakhi Flag Flying 9 April 

2.8 The Vaisakhi Flag was raised briefly on Community Square with the Mayor and 
representatives from the Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara.  

Eid Flag Flying 12 May

2.9 The Eid flag was flown on Community Square with the Mayor of Gravesham and 
representatives from the Gravesend and Dartford Muslim Association and the 
Shah Jalal Mosque. 

Pride Month June 

2.10 The Pride Flag was flown on Community Square throughout June to mark national 
Pride Month. 

Armed Forces Day, Monday 21 June

2.11 The Mayor, the Deputy Lord Lieutenant and elected members joined cadets, 
veterans and ex-service organisations on Community Square to raise the flag to 
show support for the men and women who make up the Armed Forces 
community.  

Page 24



3

Windrush Day 22 June 

2.12 Windrush funding from MHCLG enabled the delivery of a community programme 
of participative activities and events with storytelling with local primary schools, a 
recreation of HMS Windrush using shadows of local people on LV21 and food, 
music at Gravesend Borough Market.  

Community Events Funding

2.13 The council’s community event fund provided support to enable Roma Holocaust 
Exhibition, a Family Fun Day at Riverside Community Centre for a Gravesham 
Pride event.

Roma Holocaust 2 August

2.14 The Roma flag was flown on Community Square with the Romani Slovak Czech 
Community CIC and guests with a reception and exhibition at St Andrew’s Art 
Centre.

Gravesham Pride 14 August  

2.15 Gravesham Pride CIC organised the Borough’s first ever pride event in Fort 
Gardens to a maximum audience with a range of acts, stalls and music. 

Black History Month

2.16 In a continuation of the Windrush Day Project an exhibition was held in the market 
to feature stories and images from the project.  The North Kent Caribbean 
Network with Cohesion Plus organised a display in the Blake Gallery and are 
screening a film in the Woodville on 20 October.  The Black History Association 
(Gravesham and Kent) are holding an annual thanksgiving service and the African 
Community Forum are holding an event celebrating African Culture and 
Wellbeing. 

Scheduled to take place in 2021 but still to be delivered 

Boundary Walk – Saturday 16 & Sunday 17 October

2.17 Walkers will join the Mayor of Gravesham to carry out the ancient tradition of 
“Beating the Bounds” of the borough over 2 days and raising money for the 
Mayor’s Charity. 

Diwali 4 November

2.18 A candlelit parade is proposed on the evening of 4 November starting and 
finishing at the Mandir. The Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara will be holding a 
firework display  

Inter-Faith Week – 10 to 17 November

2.19 A walk around Gravesend is planned for Saturday 20 November 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 25



4

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 26



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Management Plans are put in place for all events activity and where appropriate 
reported to the Police/Safety Advisory Group for support and guidance.
There is no legal requirement to deliver community events, but the overall benefits 
of cohesion, engagement, involvement and improvement of the area make these a 
valuable contributor to the area.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Community engagement has a specific budget G094/34504 £11800 which is used 
to deliver these events.
 
Market events can be reclaimed through the European Go Trade Interreg funding.

Risk Assessment Risk assessments are undertaken for all event activity.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A This report is for information only

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No. EQIAs for events are completed before each event as part of the event 
management plan

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Objective #2 Place – A vibrant economy and connected community

Climate Change Considerations are accounted for in planning the events. 

Page 27

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Crime and Disorder The community involvement events are intended to support and encourage 
community cohesion assisting community safety work to tackle hate crime. 

Digital and website 
implications

Use of social media and website are key to the promotion of all council events for 
pre-promotion and live updates.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

All major events are risk assessed, all 1-2-1 interacting events require staff to be 
DBS checked, photo consent forms are carried out where necessary, all large scale 
events will have a lost children point and nominated member of staff.

Page 28



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Communtity & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 11 November 2021

Reporting officer: Director (Communities)

Subject: Christmas Programme 2021

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide an overview of the Christmas programme planned for Gravesend Town Centre for 
2021.

Recommendations:
1. That Members note the contents of the report and comment on the Christmas 

programme.

1. Introduction

1.1 Following disruption to the Christmas Programme in 2020 due to Covid-19 
restrictions, plans are in place to reinstate Gravesend’s traditional Christmas 
events in 2021.  This is especially important in support of Town Centre businesses 
as they re-establish trade during what is for many the most important shopping 
time of the year.

1.2 The theme for this year’s programme is Gravesham’s Christmas Together to 
celebrate the safely coming together of the community to celebrate Christmas.

1.3 This report outlines the programme of Christmas events which have been planned 
by a team of Council officers and its partners.

2. Christmas Programme 2021

Christmas Lights Switch-on

2.1 The Christmas Lights Lantern Parade, involving hundreds of school children in the 
switching-on of the Christmas will start from Community Square at 4.30pm on 
Friday 19 November.  Organised by Cohesion Plus, working in partnership with 
the Council and Kent Equality Cohesion Council, entertainment will start in the 
Town Centre at 3pm with bands and street performers, including a living snow 
globe.

Page 29 Agenda Item 8



2

2.2 The parade will finish with the lighting of the Christmas tree on Community 
Square.

Christmas at Gravesend Borough Market

2.3 Gravesend Borough Market will be the focus for a programme of pop-up markets 
and craft sessions planned for the weekends up to Christmas:

26 November - Twilight Christmas Market 

27 November - Christmas Market /Children’s Crafting Sessions 

3 December - Twilight Christmas Market 

4 December - Children’s Crafting session/Christmas Market 

5 December - Christmas Market/Adult crafting workshop 

10 December - Twilight Christmas Market 

11 December - Christmas Market/Children’s Crafting Sessions 

17 December - Twilight Christmas Market

18/19 December - Christmas Market

2.4 Specialist Markets include:

Sunday 21 November - Chilli Market 

Sunday 28 November - Flower Market 

Sunday 12 December - Railway and Die cast Market 

2.5 Musicians and choirs will perform at a number of these events.

2.6 A Father Christmas Post Box (26 November to Sunday 24 December) and a walk-
through Christmas Selfie Experience (1-24 December) will be accessible 
throughout December.

Pop-Up Cinema

2.7 Two festive Christmas films are being shown in the Borough Market:

2.7.1 Home Alone – Wednesday 1 December

2.7.2 Elf – Wednesday 8 December

2.8 These are bookable via The Woodville website (www.woodville.co.uk).

Nativity Live

2.9 Gravesend’s annual telling of the Nativity story returns on Saturday 11 December.

2.10 Filming has taken place this year in and around the Borough to also create a 
video version of the story to share more widely.  This has been made possible 
with the help of Meopham Vineyard and Gravesham Churches Together. 

Page 30

http://www.woodville.co.uk/


3

Santa Trail

2.11 An Augmented Reality Santa Trail will take place with 10 special festive animal 
characters located throughout the Town Centre.

Santa Selfie Experience

2.12 A visit to Santa’s Selfie Experience will be hosted at Unit 33 in St George’s 
Shopping Centre on Saturday 27 and Sunday 28 November.

3. The Woodville Panto

3.1 Gravesend’s panto will take place again this year at The Woodville and Wicked 
Productions will be staging Robin Hood.

3.2 The show runs from Friday 3 December to Monday 3 January.

4. Winter Light Festival

4.1 Last year’s plans to light up the Town post-Christmas had to be deferred to the 
evenings of Saturday 29 and Sunday 30 January.

4.2 The Council is working with Strange Cargo, 8Point3 LED, and local artists to light 
up historic buildings and create feature lit sculptures around the Town Centre.

5. Communications

5.1 The Christmas programme is being publicised in the Winter edition of Your 
Borough, via www.visitgravesend.co.uk and through the Council’s social media 
channels.  Press releases are also being issued to local media.

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 31

http://www.visitgravesend.co.uk/


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal No direct implications.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The Christmas programme is budgeted from the Christmas Events budget.
The winter lights festival is funded from commitments made to decorate the Town 
Centre.

Risk Assessment Risk assessments are prepared for each event and will include a health and safety 
risk assessment.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes, the Christmas programme is designed to appeal to all sections of the 
Gravesham community.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place

Climate Change Consideration has been given to the Council's net zero carbon commitments.  LED 
lights are used througout the Christmas lights scheme. 

Crime and Disorder Event Management Plans in place for all major events, including risk assessments, 
licencing involvement and Police/Safety Advisory Group support/guidance where 
required..

Digital and website 
implications

The Christmas programme are being promoted via the digital and website channels 
available to the Council.

Page 32

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The importance of safeguarding children and vulnerable adults is demonstrated in 
the design and oversight of the events programme.  Events are risk assessed, any 
1-2-1 interacting events require staff to be DBS checked and photo consent forms 
are carried out where necessary.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Committee

Date: 11 November 2021

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2021-22

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Community & Leisure Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Two 2021-22 (July to September 2021).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 35 Agenda Item 9



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Community & Leisure 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 2021-22, covering the period July to September 
2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

2.4 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Background papers

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 36

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initiatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 37

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 38



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

C O M M U N I T Y  &  L E I S U R E
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  2  :  2  0  2  1  -  2  2

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 39



P I  1 Total number of reported crime offences

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 3,143 3,225 3,211 3,245

2020-21 2,670 3,056 2,806 2,471

2021-22 2,888 3,066

2022-23

P I  2 Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 636 774 556 685

2020-21 1,295 1,098 874 982

2021-22 811 588

2022-23

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.
P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, detection and 
reduction of crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of local residents.
Key work completed or supported by the Community Safety Unit (CSU) during Quarter 2: 

• Work in Gravesend Town Centre over the summer period has concentrated on the Fort 
Gardens, Gordon Promenade, Chantry Gardens and Woodlands Park.  Security officers patrolled 
daily between the afternoon and early evening, liaising regularly with local PCSOs, to provide an 
additional uniformed presence.  Engagement with the public during patrols also provided an 
opportunity for information to be sought to help reduce ASB in future.

• Our CSU has worked closely with The Gr@nd Youth Workers since July, (funded via the 
Violence Reduction Unit) to carry out targeted youth engagement work in specific locations 
coming to our attention.  Over 50 young people from a wide range of backgrounds, male and 
female, have been engaging with workers who have signposted them to local activities (both for 
socialising and to assist for e.g. accessing training opportunities).

• Officers from the CSU and other Council colleagues took part in a multi-agency Police-led 
Operation, the first two days of which took place in September, to tackle the sale of illegal 
cigarettes and tobacco in shops in the town centre.  Some very positive results were achieved: 6 
shops were searched, 21,000 cigarettes, 102 pouches of tobacco, 10 mobile phones, 2 vehicles 
and £1,375 in cash were all seized and sophisticated concealed compartments were found in 
several of the premises.  Work to address this issue and the potential serious risk to health, will 
continue to take place in Quarter 3 and is also a priority area of work for the Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership’s Serious Organised Group.

• Safeguarding Training has now been completed by over 200 Council staff to ensure that staff are 
well-briefed in identifying potential safeguarding risks and how to refer and/or support both young 
people and adults who may be vulnerable.

• Recorded quarterly crime data suggests a small and slow increase (as expected following 
significant reductions achieved during the height of the pandemic) but the number of offences 
recorded in Quarter 2 is still fewer than any quarterly figure recorded in 2019-20 or 2020-21.

• ASB incidents have now fallen to pre-Covid levels and in fact, the month of September recorded 
153 incidents which is the smallest number of incidents since December 2019.

#1 PEOPLE 

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 40



P I  13

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 17 16 28 19

2020-21 0 7 44 79

2021-22 100 75

2022-23

 2. Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to pursue anyone 
committing environmental crime or damaging the local environment. 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken

The Environmental Enforcement Team currently consists of one investigator and three Street 
Scene Enforcement Officers.

In Q2 2021/22 the Environmental Enforcement Team have continued to take all reports of fly-
tipping, triage those reports, and attend any which may contain evidence or provide lines of 
enquiry to enable investigation. 

During Q2, there were 919 reports. Those reports resulted in 110 investigations and 35 small-
scale offence enquiries.

During the period, five cases have been referred to criminal court through our legal team for 
prosecution and are awaiting court appearance. One case has been heard and resulted in a 
conviction under S110 of the Environment Act 1995. The offender received a criminal conviction, 
a conditional discharge and costs.

There have been thirty £400 Fixed Penalty Notices issued for fly tipping and four £150 fines for 
littering. All outstanding fines have been paid.

In addition, 41 Community Protection Notice Warnings, relating to low-level waste offences, have 
been issued to residents and businesses.

The team continue to work with internal and external partners to tackle environmental crime and 
anti-social behaviour. On the 3rd August the team worked with Kent Police and the Environment 
Agency on a joint proactive operation, during which 7 vehicles were seized for environmental 
crime related traffic offences.

They have recently begun to deploy covert cameras in areas of high offending and as a result 
have captured offenders fly tipping, who will face prosecution.

We continue to work closely with the media team to ensure that enforcement successes and 
educational messages are posted on social and news media.

0

40

80

120

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22 P
age 41



P I  37

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 219,508 207,957 194,043 204,620

2020-21 N/A 41,278 39,391 2,901

2021-22 74,247 102,871

2022-23

P I  38

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 7,318

2020-21 551

2021-22

2022-23

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees

Leisure Centres - During the July to September 2021 monitoring period (Q2), the swimming pool 
and health suite facilities at Cascades Leisure Centre reopened on the 24 July. This now means 
that all sports activity areas are now available. The total attendance at Cascades and Cygnet for 
the July to September 2021 period was 102,871. The total attendance during the corresponding 
period, pre-pandemic, in 2019 was 207,957. The performance of the swimming pool at Cascades 
was pleasing, with it being at 71% of the 2019 period. In fact for the month of August, the 
Cascades swimming pool had the highest level of attendance for the past 7-years at 14,896. The 
swimming pool at Cygnet was at 55% of the 2019 period.
Both sports halls are performing well, with Cascades at 69% and Cygnet at 100% compared to 
the 2019 period. Unfortunately the return of squash is not so good with performance figures of 
11% and 24% respectively compared to the 2019 period. When comparing gym, group class and 
health suite attendances to 2019, the following can be noted:
• Cascades Gym is at 54% compared to 2019 – Cygnet Gym is at 46%
• Cascades Group Classes is at 48% compared to 2019 – Cygnet Group Classes is at 41%
• Cascades Health Suite is at 23% compared to 2019 – Cygnet Health Suite is at 37%
By way of summary, the attendance performance is improving but, as expected slowly with GCLL 
continuing to add to its programme over the next three months.

Active Gravesham – Whilst last year’s Summer Fun programme was unable to go ahead, this 
year we were able to deliver a number of smaller scale events across the borough. These mainly 
took the form of fun days based across a number of sites, including a weekly ‘Fun at the Fort 
Gardens’ throughout August. The Fort sessions included specific heritage activities in the 
Chantry, as well as storytelling sessions (with Woodville Education and Outreach and KCC 
Libraries) and ‘Magic and Movement’ sessions, which included dodgeball, football and magic 
shows. 
North West Kent Countryside Partnership also attended a number of our events to deliver nature 
trails and pond dipping. We also delivered Tai-Chi sessions, for those aged 14+ across August 
and ‘Introduction to Fishing’ sessions at Shorne Woods Country Park. The council, as in previous 
years, supported the Northfleet Big Local, to deliver family physical activity sessions, which 
included circuit training and mindfulness meditation, delivered by Primal Roots CIC. It is estimated 
that just under 700 people participated in planned activities over the summer period.

1. Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and creative sports 
programmes to tackle local health inequalities.

Total number of leisure centre attendees

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator

0

2,500

5,000

7,500

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

P
age 42



P I  40

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 974 595 1,011 515

2020-21 353 417 414 386

2021-22 384 359

2022-23

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.2. Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: work with partners to help 

support and safeguard vulnerable residents. 
Cloud9 Festival is a new creative Wellbeing festival for Ebbsfleet, Swanscome and Northfleet 
using creative artists and fitness to create community cohesion and integration.  Launch events 
included a Community Choir, Youth Hip Hop and Words for Windows with a main festival day in 
July.  The Gr@nd also helped bring some of the festival to Northfleet with some of the artists 
peforming in the Hive in Northfleet.   

Increasing uptake of the Covid vaccine - working with GBC support was provided for information 
points within the town alongside the CCG to promote the benefits of the vaccine and encourage 
the vaccine drop in service. 
                                                                                                                                                                                 
Age UK - Beginners Digital Tech Course.  This course is run in partnershop with Age UK North 
West Kent with 6 participants taking part in the beginners tech course covering topics including 
laptop basics, online shopping, zoom and much more.                                                                                         

CPR Training working with Gravesham Youth Council CPR training was delivered. This led to 13 
people learning lifesaving skills.
                                                                                                                                   
GYG Family and Friends Performance at the Gr@nd 
The Grand Youth Team have continued to work with the GYG Committee and young performers 
throughout the lockdowns.  The young people who missed out on performing in 2020 were given 
the chance to perform within The Grand Courtroom, a more intimate setting with friends and 
family.  We have held four separate evenings, and all were well attended. 

One You - Grand Active.  This quarter saw the One You team bring sessions back into the 
building and continue to deliver sessions outdoors at the free gym located at the Sikh temple 
grounds.  The hybrid package of delivery helped us retain numbers and work with 43 clients.  

#2 PLACE 

Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the Gr@nd healthy living services

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 43



P I  41

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 36

2020-21 50

2021-22

2022-23

Annual indicator

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
3. Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading programme of 
engagement initiatives, showcasing the borough’s diversity and enabling greater participation in 
civic life.
With the easing of restrictions we have seen a return of community events with more usual 
numbers in attendance.  

Flag raising on Community Square took place to mark Eid-al-adha and Roma Holocaust.  
The council’s community event fund provided support to enable Roma Holocaust exhibition, a 
Family Fun Day at Riverside Community Centre and for Gravesham Pride to run the borough’s 
first Pride event at Fort Gardens on Saturday 14 August. The event played to a maximum 
audience and was a big success.  

The many litter picking groups have completed 16 litter picks around the borough during this 
quarter.
Support has been provided to a wide range of front line community organisations to distribute 
support to those residents in need of help with food and fuel bills over the summer months.  

We have also continued to work with the NHS vaccination team deploying the mobile vaccination 
bus to the Riverside Community Centre, Cygnets Leisure Centre and Ebbsfleet Football Club.

Total number of community activities/events delivered by the council and in conjunction 
with its partners

0

20

40

60

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 44



P I  42

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 10,658 12,358 21,127 6,968

2020-21 0 2,413 3,415 241

2021-22 107 5,172

2022-23

P I  43

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 6,419 6,801 6,857 7,461

2020-21 980 6,192 4,582 2,223

2021-22 4,681 4,506

2022-23

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

4. Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The Woodville and the 
Borough Market as community assets.

#2 PLACE 
P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

The Woodville continued its use as a vaccine centre until the end of August. During that time 
events were held outside throughout the summer months. These included 4 comedy nights, a 
night of West End Musical performances, a family show and a two day family festival that 
coincided with the regatta weekend at the beginning of September. All the ticketed events sold out 
and plans are in place to enhance this programme in 2022. 

We have had increased activity in St Andrew's Arts Centre with it being used for rehearsals for a 
new dance piece, as well as an arts fair. The railings along the riverfront at St Andrew's Quay 
have been in use over two bank holiday weekends for local arts groups to exhibit and sell their 
work. Ticket sales also increased during this quarter due to the new Autumn programme.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

Footfall to the Borough market appears in the performance figures to have dipped, this was not 
actually the case but due to an error with the footfall counters. The market saw an increase in 
permanent unit uptake with a new clothes trader opening in a double unit and resumed its themed 
markets with the return of the Vegan market and handmaid fair. 

Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville

Average weekly Borough Market footfall

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 45



P I  44

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 4,936

2020-21 0

2021-22

2022-23

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Annual indicator

5. Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their community reach and 
expand the visitor economy.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

The Milton Chantry and New Tavern Fort re-opened following 18 months of closure on 24th July 
2021. A small programme of family events was devised to support the re-opening which included 
opening Milton Chantry every Wednesday in August as part of the Summer Fun programme and 
special character visits from the Medieval Monk, General Gordon and Alymer de Valence. In 
addition to this a new children’s heritage treasure hunt was created and an indoor fairy door trail 
for younger visitors. 

The new exhibition depicting Barrack life within Milton Chantry has been well received by visitors, 
especially the costumes and selfie station. Thoughts now turn to the other rooms and 
improvements in displays and interpretation of exhibits. 

The Make it Arts grants partnered with the Blooming Lovely Festival and commissioned three 
artists to deliver 5 installations throughout the town from July to September. As part of Milton 
Chantry 700 and the Blooming Lovely Festival, the building hosted its first artist commission, a 
tapestry piece by Nicola Flower. Nicola hosted a small ‘meet the artist’ style reception to thank 
those who participated and explain to other visitors the thinking behind the tapestry. Both sites 
were open during the Fun in the Fort event on 4 and 5 September and the Hope and Glory event 
on 25 and 26 September and recorded good visitor numbers. 

The Cold War Bunker at Woodlands Park has also resumed its guided tours. Funding has now 
been received to transfer the existing Audio tours of Milton Chantry, New Tavern Fort and 
Riverside Walk into apps. This project will begin shortly and will hopefully be ready in time for April 
2022 opening. 

Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 46


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Outdoor and Town Centre Events Programme
	6 Summer Fun Programme 2021
	7 Community Engagement Events & Activities 2021
	8 Christmas Programme 2021
	9 Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2021-22
	Community & Leisure Portfolio - Q2 2021-22 (Appendix 2)
	Q2 2021-22





